S254599

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

| In re | |
|-------------------|---------|
| GREGORY GADLIN, | Case No |
| On Habeas Corpus. | |

Second Appellate District Division Five, Case No. B289852 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BA165439 The Honorable William C. Ryan, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

XAVIER BECERRA Attorney General of California GERALD A. ENGLER Chief Assistant Attorney General PHILLIP J. LINDSAY Senior Assistant Attorney General AMANDA J. MURRAY Supervising Deputy Attorney General CHARLES CHUNG Deputy Attorney General State Bar No. 248806 300 South Spring Street, Suite 1702 Los Angeles, CA 90013 Telephone: (213) 269-6026

Fax: (213) 897-2808

ISSUE PRESENTED

Proposition 57 amended the Constitution to provide parole consideration to nonviolent offenders incarcerated in state prison. It requires the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation to promulgate a parole scheme to implement this mandate—one that the Secretary of the Department must certify as protecting and enhancing public safety. Proponents of Proposition 57, including its author former Governor Edmund G. Brown, Jr., told voters that this new parole scheme would not provide parole consideration for sex offenders. After Proposition 57's passage, upon concluding that sex offenders pose a unique public safety risk, the Department adopted regulations that excluded sex offenders from the nonviolent parole process.

This petition presents the following issue: did the Court of Appeal interpret article I, section 32 of the Constitution contrary to the voters' intent by holding that the Department must give parole consideration to offenders with a prior conviction of a registrable sex offense, despite the Department's regulatory public safety determination and the assurances to the voters that sex offenders would be excluded from parole consideration?

INTRODUCTION

Proposition 57, the Public Safety and Rehabilitation Act of 2016, amended the Constitution, adding article I, section 32 ("Amendment") to provide parole consideration to inmates convicted of nonviolent felony offenses. Proposition 57 sought to ease prison overcrowding and improve rehabilitation by providing parole review, and possibly early release, to nonviolent offenders. This marked a dramatic change to the determinate sentencing laws that had been in place over the past four decades.

In support of this sweeping reform, Proposition 57's proponents—led by former Governor Brown—informed voters of the public safety benefits of this parole process and emphasized that sex offenders, as defined under Penal Code section 290, would be excluded. The Department then adopted a regulatory scheme that excludes all registered sex offenders for public safety reasons, consistent with the proponents' assurances to the voters.

In its published decision, the Court of Appeal held the exclusion of inmates for past sex offenses is not consistent with Proposition 57's intent. (Slip opn., at pp. 7-8.) It found the Amendment's plain text "make[s] clear that early parole eligibility must be assessed based on the conviction for which an inmate is now serving a state prison sentence (the current offense), rather than prior criminal history." (*Id.*, at p. 7.) The court deduced that the omission of any reference to an inmate's past convictions in article I, section 32, subdivision (a) of the Constitution forbids the Department from excluding any offenders based on past registrable sex crimes. (*Ibid.*)

As the first ruling of its kind in the appellate courts,¹ this decision raises important questions of law that warrant the Court's review. The

¹ A similar issue is pending before the Third District Court of Appeal in *Alliance for Constitutional Sex Offense Laws and John Doe v*.

appellate court's interpretation is based on the Amendment's purported plain language. But it would result in an application of the law that is contrary to the voters' intent when considered in the context of the Amendment's stated purpose, the textual provision granting the Department rulemaking authority to implement a regulatory scheme that protects and enhances public safety, the Department's exercise of that authority, and the ballot materials.

Indeed, the Court of Appeal's decision could have a substantial, deleterious impact on public safety by disregarding voter intent and granting parole review to thousands of sex offenders currently in prison. The Department determined sex offenders should be excluded from the parole process for public safety reasons and both the courts and the Legislature have historically acknowledged the acute risks to the public that sex offenders pose when released to the community. There is no indication the electorate intended to give sex offenders early opportunities for parole in the face of Governor Brown's declaration that the new parole process would exclude sex offenders.

The Court should therefore grant review to ensure the Amendment's parole reforms are achieved consistent with its public safety purpose and the voters' intent in enacting Proposition 57.

-

California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation, et al., case number C087294, in which the court will address the validity of the Department's regulation excluding offenders convicted of past registrable sex offenses and those serving a current term of imprisonment for such an offense. (See also *In re Schuster* (C087276, app. pending) [appeal on procedural grounds of superior court's invalidation of regulatory exclusion of sex offenders from Proposition 57 parole].)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Passage of Proposition 57.

On November 8, 2016, the electorate passed Proposition 57, amending the California Constitution to create a parole process for state inmates convicted of nonviolent felony offenses. (Cal. Const., art. I, § 32, subd. (a).) As amended, article I, section 32 provides in relevant part:

- (a) The following provisions are hereby enacted to enhance public safety, improve rehabilitation, and avoid the release of prisoners by federal court order, notwithstanding anything in this article or any other provision of law:
- (1) Parole Consideration: Any person convicted of a nonviolent felony offense and sentenced to state prison shall be eligible for parole consideration after completing the full term for his or her primary offense.

. . .

(b) The Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation shall adopt regulations in furtherance of these provisions, and the Secretary of the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation shall certify that these regulations protect and enhance public safety.

(Cal. Const., art. I, § 32.)

In the Official Voter Information Guide, the proponents, including former Governor Brown, urged voters to vote in favor of Proposition 57 because it would reduce spending on prisons by making prisoners convicted of nonviolent felonies eligible for parole while keeping the most dangerous offenders incarcerated. (Ballot Pamp., General Elec. (Nov. 8, 2016) argument in favor of Prop. 57, p. 58.) The proposition's opponents argued that the nonviolent parole process would increase violent crimes in the community and endanger the public by authorizing early parole to sex offenders including those convicted of rape and child molestation. (*Id.*, rebuttal to argument in favor and argument against Prop. 57, pp. 58-59.)

The proponents rebutted these arguments, assuring voters that "sex offenders, as defined in Penal Code 290" would be excluded from parole and that Proposition 57 "will be implemented through Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation regulations developed with public and victim input and certified as protecting public safety." (*Id.* rebuttal to argument against Prop. 57, p. 59.)

After the voters adopted Proposition 57, the Department promulgated regulations defining the parole process for eligible inmates and excluding from eligibility any inmate "convicted of a sexual offense that currently requires or will require registration as a sex offender under the Sex Offender Registration Act, codified in sections 290 through 290.024 of the Penal Code." (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3491, subd. (b)(3).) As required by the initiative, the Secretary of the Department certified that the regulations would protect and enhance public safety.

B. Procedural History.

In 2007, Gregory Gadlin was convicted of assault with a deadly weapon (Pen. Code, § 245, subd. (a)(1)), with prior strike convictions in 1984 for forcible rape (*id.*, § 261, former subd. (2)) and in 1986 for forcible child molestation (*id.*, § 288, subd. (b)). (Slip opn., at p. 2.) Gadlin was sentenced under the "Three Strikes" law to a total term of 35 years to life in prison. (*Ibid.*) Gadlin's conviction and sentence were affirmed on direct appeal in an unpublished decision. (*People v. Gadlin* (May 21, 2009, B203647) [2009 WL 1415943].) Under the adopted regulations, Gadlin was ineligible for Proposition 57 parole based on his indeterminate

² As originally adopted, the regulations phrased this exclusion differently, but it had the same effect in excluding any inmate "[c]onvicted of a sexual offense that requires registration as a sex offender under Penal Code section 290." (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, former § 3490, subd. (a)(3) (Apr. 28, 2017).)

sentence under the "Three Strikes" law and his prior sex offense convictions. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, former § 3490, subd. (a)(1), (3) (Apr. 28, 2017).)

On May 7, 2018, Gadlin filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the Second District Court of Appeal, Division Five. On May 25, 2018, the Court of Appeal appointed counsel and ordered counsel to file an amended petition addressing the validity of the regulations adopted under Proposition 57. On August 24, 2018, Gadlin's appointed counsel filed an amended petition and the court issued an order to show cause on August 31, 2018. Respondent filed a return and Gadlin filed a traverse.

C. The Court of Appeal's Decision.

On January 28, 2019, the Court of Appeal issued a published decision granting the writ of habeas corpus. (Slip opn., at p. 16.) The court found the Department mooted the issues related to Gadlin's exclusion from Proposition 57 parole based on his indeterminate sentence after its adoption of new regulations consistent with the decision in *In re Edwards* (2018) 26 Cal.App.5th 1181.³ (Slip opn., at p. 4.) The court considered only the validity of the Department's exclusion of Gadlin from Proposition 57 parole based on his prior convictions for registrable sex offenses. (*Ibid.*) It concluded that "exclud[ing] Gadlin and all similarly situated inmates from early parole consideration runs afoul of section 32(a)(1) [of the California Constitution]." (*Id.*, at p. 7.)

Looking to Proposition 57's wording, the Court of Appeal found the references to "convicted' and 'sentenced'" as well as "the singular form in 'felony offense,' 'primary offense,' and 'term'" all indicate Proposition 57 intended eligibility for its parole process to be based on the inmate's current

³ The new regulations outline the parole review process for eligible inmates serving indeterminate terms for nonviolent felony offenses. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, §§ 3495-3497.)

offense without regard to past convictions. (Slip opn., at p. 7.) The court held the Department's "policy considerations [related to the public safety risks posed by sex offenders] . . . do not trump the plain text of section 32(a)(1)." (*Ibid.*) However, the court expressed no opinion as to whether an inmate whose current offense requires registration under Penal Code section 290 may be excluded from Proposition 57 parole. (*Id.*, at p. 8.) The Court of Appeal directed the Department "to consider Gadlin for early parole consideration within 60 days of remittitur issuance." (*Ibid.*)

Concurring in the disposition, Justice Baker expressed his view that the regulatory exclusion of sex offenders is not, on its face, inconsistent with Proposition 57. (Conc. opn., at p. 1.) Justice Baker found no "clear textual indication that Proposition 57 was intended to bar regulatory exclusion of current-offense sex offenders," so the Department's exercise of its rulemaking authority to bar such offenders from parole was not inconsistent with the voters' intent. (*Id.*, at p. 2.) Given that Proposition 57 was "left fuzzy at the margins" as far as which inmates were meant to benefit from its parole process, Justice Baker opined the "textually explicit grant of authority [to the Department] must at least extend to clarifying the margins of what constitutes a nonviolent felony offense." (*Id.* at p. 7.) He reviewed the ballot materials and noted "Proposition 57's proponents assured votes that those required to register as sex offenders would not benefit from the initiative," but he concluded that assurance applied only to those inmates whose current offense was a registrable sex offense. (Id., at p. 11.)

The Court of Appeal's decision became final on February 27, 2019.

REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW

The interpretation of article I, section 32 of the Constitution raises important questions of constitutional construction affecting how the parole reforms intended by Proposition 57 will be implemented throughout the state. This will impact thousands of incarcerated sex offenders and decide how the executive branch exercises its rulemaking authority. Guidance from this Court will ensure the People's intent in passing Proposition 57 is fulfilled and that the Department establishes a parole scheme consistent with the Amendment's public safety purpose.

REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO EFFECTUATE THE VOTERS' INTENT TO ENACT PAROLE REFORMS IN A MANNER THAT PROTECTS AND ENHANCES PUBLIC SAFETY.

The court below reviewed the Amendment's scope with a limited textual analysis, considering the wording of subdivision (a)(1) of article I, section 32 of the Constitution without considering the overall context of the Amendment's stated purpose, the rulemaking provision of subdivision (b), and the ballot materials. The court considered the text of subdivision (a)(1), alone, to be the best indicator of voter intent and eschewed any review either of the ballot materials or the Amendment's other provisions. (Slip opn., at pp. 6-7.) This approach led to an interpretation that does not serve the voters' intent or the Amendment's overall purpose.

A provision's text "is typically the best and most reliable indicator of [its] purpose." (*Cal. Cannabis Coalition v. City of Upland* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 924, 933, rehg. den. Nov. 1, 2017; *Kwikset Corp. v. Superior Court* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 310, 321 ["we begin with the text as the first and best indicator of intent."].) And courts generally avoid extrinsic sources to ascertain intent unless "the provisions' intended purpose . . . remains opaque" from its plain meaning. (*Cal. Cannabis Coalition*, at p. 934.) But, courts must be mindful of the overall context of a provision and not constrain its review

to "a single word or sentence[.]" (*Lungren v. Deukmejian* (1988) 45 Cal.3d 727, 735 (*Lungren*).) Indeed, the "spirit" of the law has primacy over a literal, formalistic reading of particular words: "[t]he intent prevails over the letter, and the letter will, if possible, be so read as to conform to the spirit of the act." (*Ibid.*; see *Amador Valley Joint Union High Sch. Dist. v. State Bd. of Equalization* (1978) 22 Cal.3d 208, 245 ["The literal language of enactments may be disregarded to avoid absurd results and to fulfill the apparent intent of the framers."].)

This Court echoed this principle when reviewing the requirements imposed by Proposition 64 on representative actions under the Unfair Competition Law. (*Arias v. Superior Court* (2009) 46 Cal.4th 969, 978-979.) There, a literal reading of Proposition 64 seemed to support the plaintiff's contention that his representative action need not comply with class action requirements; however, the Court explained that "[a] literal construction of an enactment . . . will not control when such a construction would frustrate the manifest purpose." (*Id.*, at p. 979.) In that case, the Court turned to the ballot materials and found "strong evidence of voter intent" to impose class action requirements. (*Id.*, at pp. 979-980.)

In this case, the Amendment's purpose as a measure to protect and enhance public safety is clear. The measure was titled "the Public Safety and Rehabilitation Act of 2016." (Slip opn., at p. 4.) Its preamble pledges that "[t]he following provisions are hereby enacted to enhance public safety" (Cal. Const., art. I, § 32, subd. (a).) The Amendment commands the Secretary to certify the adopted regulations "protect and enhance public safety." (*Id.*, subd. (b).) And the ballot materials repeatedly emphasize the public safety purpose of the measure. (Ballot Pamp., General Elec. (Nov. 8, 2016) text of Prop. 57, p. 141; *id.*, argument in favor of Prop. 57, p. 58.) A plain-meaning interpretation must not be contrary to this overall public safety purpose.

A plain meaning interpretation must give effect to the public safety certification requirement. In requiring the Secretary to certify that the parole scheme adopted by the Department protects and enhances public safety, the Amendment entrusts the Secretary to enforce its public safety purpose. The People acknowledged and relied on the Secretary's experience and expertise to fashion a parole scheme consistent with this purpose, which necessarily confers on the Secretary the authority to do so. This requirement is not surplusage—it is the provision by which the Amendment achieves its public safety goals. An interpretation of the Amendment's intent must give effect to and be harmonized with this provision. (See *People v. Valencia* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 347, 357, citing *Dyna-Med, Inc. v. Fair Employment & Housing Com.* (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1379, 1387.) The Court of Appeal's interpretation failed to do so by considering subdivision (a)(1) in isolation without considering the public safety certification requirement.

And by certifying that the Department's sex-offender exclusion protects and enhances public safety, the Secretary achieved the Amendment's public safety goals in a manner consistent with what the voters were told in the ballot materials. (See, e.g., *Silicon Valley Taxpayers' Assn., Inc. v. Santa Clara County Open Space Auth.* (2008) 44 Cal.4th 431, 445 ["Because the language imposing a 'burden' on the agency is somewhat imprecise, we look to the ballot materials as further indicia of voter intent."].) The proponents, including Governor Brown, made a clear statement to the voters that the Department would implement a parole scheme with regulations "certified as protecting public safety" and that "sex offenders, as defined by Penal Code [section] 290" are excluded from parole. (Ballot Pamp., General Elec. (Nov. 8, 2016) rebuttal to argument against Prop. 57, p. 59.) This assurance that sex offenders would be excluded relates to public safety and is reasonably read as applying to all

sex offenders not, as the court concluded, only to inmates whose current offense is a sex crime. (Slip opn. at p. 7.)

The definition of sex offender has never distinguished between past and present sex offenses or been limited to inmates whose current offense requires registration under Penal Code section 290. Instead, a sex offender is defined as any person who "has been" convicted of one of the enumerated sex crimes and registration as a sex offender is a lifetime requirement. (Pen. Code, § 290, subds. (b), (c).) Significantly, "[t]he registration provisions of the Act are applicable to every person described in the Act, without regard to when his or her crime or crimes were committed" (Id., § 290.023, italics added.)

A reasonable voter would have understood that "sex offenders, as defined by Penal Code [section] 290" refers to all sex offenders and it is this understanding that shapes the Amendment's intent and public safety purpose. (See, e.g., *People v. Morales* (2016) 63 Cal.4th 399, 407 [concluding any reasonable voter would have understood the legislative analyst's meaning].) Indeed, the proponents' intent to exclude all sex offenders as a public safety matter may be presumed to be shared by the electorate in passing Proposition 57. (See *Rossi v. Brown* (1995) 9 Cal.4th 688, 700, fn. 7 ["we have often presumed . . . that the drafters' intent and understanding of the measure was shared by the electorate."].)

The exercise of the initiative power has been called "one of the most precious rights of our democratic process" whereby the People submit legislation for a direct vote. (*Amador Valley Joint Union High Sch. Dist.*, *supra*, 22 Cal.3d at p. 245, quoting *Associated Home Builders etc.*, *Inc. v. City of Livermore* (1976) 18 Cal.3d 582, 591, fn. omitted.) This precious right is abridged if the People's intent for passing the law is not realized in the course of its interpretation.

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