## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

No. S254599

In re GREGORY GADLIN on Habeas Corpus. Court of Appeal of California Second District, Division Five No. B289852

Superior Court of California Los Angeles County No. BA165439 William C. Ryan

## **Answer to Petition for Review**

Michael Satris (SBN # 67413) Law Office of Michael Satris PO Box 337 Bolinas, CA 94924 (415) 868-9209

fax: (415) 868-2658 satris.eservice@gmail.com

Attorney for Petitioner Gregory Gadlin

#

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. The Question Whether Respondent May Exclude Prisoners Serving Sentences for a Nonviolent Offense from Early Parole Consideration Under Proposition 57 Based on Their Criminal History – in this Case, Their Prior Conviction of a Registrable Offense – Does Not Warrant Review by This Court.
  - A. The Court of Appeal's Resolution of the Question of the Electorate's Intent to Include Nonviolent Offenders with Prior Registrable Offenses in the Early Parole Consideration Provision of Proposition 57, Which the Court Based on the Plain and Unambiguous Text of that Provision, Does Not Present a Question that Requires This Court's Consideration.

This Court may grant review of a decision by a Court of Appeal "[w]hen necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law." (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) The petition fails to show any such need. Instead, it concedes by its silence that there is no need to grant review to secure uniformity of decision. To be sure, the decision here is

altogether consistent with that of *Edwards*, where the court – as here – found that the Department's exclusion of a nonviolent offender on the basis of his criminal history was inconsistent with the proposition. (See *In re Edwards*, *supra*, 26 Cal.App.5th at p. 1192 ["CDCR's adopted regulations impermissibly circumscribe eligibility for Proposition 57 parole by barring relief for Edwards and other similarly situated inmates serving Three Strikes sentences for nonviolent offenses."].)

Respondent determined that the Court of Appeal's decision in *Edwards* provided no basis to petition for review, and this Court likewise found no basis to grant review of it. Its uncontested holding that the electorate did not intend to exclude those convicted of nonviolent offenses from early parole consideration based on their criminal history is now settled law that respondent is fully implementing. Thus, if anything, grant of review here would promote uncertainty and confusion on this point of law rather than uniformity. Indeed, while respondent notes that "[a] similar issue is pending" in the Court of Appeal in two other cases (Petn. 7–8, fn. 1), he neglects to further note that the trial court in both of those cases found that his exclusion of prisoners from early parole consideration based on their prior commission of a registrable offense went beyond the authority that the proposition vested in him to implement it.

Nevertheless, characterizing the decision below as "the first ruling of its kind in the appellate courts," respondent submits that "this decision raises important questions of law that warrant the Court's review." (Petn. 7.) The decision does no such thing; rather, it largely reiterates the central holding of *Edwards*, as revealed by respondent's own description of the decision below:

In its published decision, the Court of Appeal held the exclusion of inmates for past sex offenses is not consistent with Proposition 57's intent. (Slip opn., at pp. 7–8.) It found the Amendment's plain text "make[s] clear that early parole eligibility must be assessed based on the conviction for which an inmate is now serving a state prison sentence (the current offense), rather than prior criminal history." (*Id.*, at p. 7.) The court deduced that the omission of any reference to an inmate's past convictions in article I, section 32, subdivision (a) of the Constitution forbids the Department from excluding any offenders based on past registrable sex crimes. (*Ibid.*)

# (Petn. 7, brackets in quote deleted.)

This understanding of Section 32(a)(1) is reflected as well in a treatise by the judiciary's criminal law experts, who have explained how that provision for early parole consideration operates. (See Couzens & Bigelow (May 2017 Barrister Press) Proposition 57: "The Public Safety and Rehabilitation Act of 2016" [available on line at www.courts.ca.gov/documents/prop57-Parole-and-Credits-Memo.pdf.].) As the treatise explains, the proposition makes a nonviolent offender's prior record of felony convictions irrelevant to that offender's qualification for parole consideration:

Eligibility for parole will be based solely on the crimes that result in the current prison commitment: "any person convicted of a non-violent felony offense and sentenced to state prison shall be eligible for parole consideration..." The person's past criminal record is irrelevant to statutory eligibility for early release on parole. Accordingly, so long as the current offense is not a "violent felony," the person will be

eligible for early release on parole on that offense, even though he or she has previously been convicted of a violent felony.

(Id. at pp. 8–9.)

In sum, the Department's categorical exclusion from early parole consideration of prisoners like Gadlin with the commission of a registrable sex offense in their prior record impermissibly limits the scope of the early parole consideration process that the electorate unambiguously intended when it enacted Section 32(a)(1). Such a determination properly ends the analysis of the issue respondent here presents, as the courts uniformly have found.

B. Respondent's Argument that Other Considerations in Proposition 57 Overcome the Plain Meaning of Its Text and Establish that the Electorate Intended to Exclude Nonviolent Offenders with a Prior Registrable Conviction from Early Parole Consideration Is Meritless and Undeserving of this Court's Review.

Respondent persists, however, arguing that the holding below "would result in an application of the law that is contrary to the voters' intent when considered in the context of the Amendment's stated purpose, the textual provision granting the Department rulemaking authority to implement a regulatory scheme that protects and enhances public safety, the Department's exercise of that authority, and the ballot materials." (Petn. 8.) As detailed below, respondent is wrong on each of those counts.

#### 1. The Official Ballot Material.

First, Gadlin addresses respondent's last-mentioned indicator, "the ballot materials," because it *reinforces* the inference from the text itself that the electorate intended to apply the early parole provision based on the nature of the current felony conviction rather than the nature of any prior felony conviction. To begin with, the Attorney General himself explained in his summary that Proposition 57, among other things, "allows parole consideration for persons convicted of nonviolent felonies, upon completion of prison term for their primary offense as defined." (Voter Information Guide, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 8, 2016), Prop. 57, Official Title and Summary prepared by the Attorney General, p. 54.1)

In addition, the Legislative Analyst advised the voters of the assumption that "a nonviolent felony offense would include any felony offense that is not specifically defined in statute as violent." (Voter Information Guide, *supra*, Prop. 57, Analysis by the Legislative Analyst, p. 57.) Indeed, to distinguish between violent and nonviolent offenders, respondent adopted in his final regulations the list of offenses defined as violent in Penal Code section 667.5, subdivision (c), the single Penal Code section that purports to define a "violent felony" for any purpose. (See Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3490.) But then respondent provided that "notwithstanding" the definition of a nonviolent offender, a sexoffender registrant was ineligible for early parole consideration.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Official Voter Information Guide can also be found in the record as Exh. 3 to the Return.

(See Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3491, subd. (b) (3); see also *In re Edwards*, *supra*, 26 Cal.App.5th at p. 1188 [explaining changes in respondent's final regulations].)

Perhaps most obviously informing the voters that prior convictions did not impact a nonviolent offender's qualification for early parole consideration (aside from the plain text of the provision itself) were the arguments of the opponents, who urged the electorate to vote against Proposition 57 for this very reason. In this regard, the opponents argued that Proposition 57 provided that those serving sentences for nonviolent offenses with even the most serious or violent prior offenses – including prior sex offenses -- were eligible for early parole consideration, advising the voters: "Those previously convicted of MURDER, RAPE and CHILD MOLESTATION would be eligible for early parole." (Voter Information Guide, *supra*, Rebuttal to Argument in Favor of Proposition 57, p. 58, capitalization in original.) In their own argument against Proposition 57, the opponents urged voters to reject the proposition because it "permits the worst career criminals to be treated the same as first time offenders." (Voter Information Guide, supra, Argument Against Proposition 57, p. 59, italics in original.) In like vein, the opponents argued that the "poorly drafted measure deems the following crimes 'non-violent' and makes the perpetrators eligible for EARLY PAROLE and RELEASE into local communities," and included certain registrable offenses in that list. (*Ibid.*, capitalization in original.)

This prominent list of nonviolent sex offenses in the ballot materials that made *current* offenders assertedly eligible for early parole consideration could only have reinforced the voters' understanding that those with *prior* convictions for those offense

inarguably qualified for early parole consideration. The list of violent offenses in Penal Code section 667.5 includes many, but not all, sex offenses. (See *People v. Pelayo* (1999) 69 Cal.App.4th 123, 123-24 [noting distinction between nonviolent and violent sex offenses]; People v. Johnson (2010) 185 Cal. App. 4th 520, 535 [same]; Doe v. Brown (2009) 177 Cal.App.4th 408, 423 [statutory exclusion from Megan's Law Website under Pen. Code, § 490.46, subd. (e)(2)(C) exists only for "nonviolent" offenses]; People v. Carmony (2005) 127 Cal. App. 4th 1066, 1078 [failing to register as a sex offender is a "passive, nonviolent, regulatory offense"]; see also typ. opn. 4–6 (conc. opn. of Baker, Acting P.J.).) It is in the context of "answer[ing] the charge that those convicted of [and serving sentences for sex crimes like human trafficking would benefit from Proposition 57," that the "proponents asserted Proposition 57 'does not and will not change the federal court order that excludes sex offenders, as defined in Penal Code section 290, from parole." (Typ. opn. 10 (conc. opn. of Baker, Acting P.J.), quoting the ballot pamphlet's rebuttal to argument against Prop. 57, p. 59, brackets in quote omitted.)

Respondent's reliance on this rebuttal argument to support his petition fails because respondent isolates that argument from the other arguments in the ballot that make clear the early parole provision applies regardless of an individual's criminal history. There may have been debate among the proponents and opponents as to which current sex offenders were eligible for early parole consideration under Proposition 57, but there was no debate or allegation by the opponents that a prior sex offense affected the nonviolent offender's eligibility for early parole

consideration. (See, e.g., typ. opn. 8–11 (conc. opn. of Baker, Acting P.J.).) Thus, that rebuttal argument has no bearing on the issue presented in the petition.

Moreover, respondent takes the rebuttal statement further out of context by only partially quoting it, asserting that "[t]he proponents rebutted these arguments, assuring voters that 'sex offenders, as defined in Penal Code 290' would be excluded from parole and that Proposition 57 will be implemented through Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation regulations developed with public and victim input and certified as protecting public safety." (Petn. 10; see also Petn. 15, again quoting the rebuttal argument, brackets in quote deleted ["The proponents, including Governor Brown, made a clear statement to the voters that the Department would implement a parole scheme with regulations 'certified as protecting public safety' and that 'sex offenders, as defined by Penal Code section 290' are excluded from parole."].)

Respondent's omission in these quotes of the reference to a "federal court order" is telling, for the full quotation shows that the proponents made no such "clear statement" as respondent asserts. Not only is "[t]he 'federal court order' referenced by the proponents ... left unspecified" (typ. opn. 10 (conc. opn. of Baker, Acting P.J.)), but there was no explanation given the voters as to how or even if the federal court order affected sex offenders. Indeed, as far as the voters knew (and as actually is the case), the federal court order did not mention sex offenses, sex offenders, or Penal Code section 290; rather, it merely proposed that an early parole process be set up for nonviolent second-strike offenders to reduce the prison population. The reed upon which respondent

relies to assert that the voters were assured that the early parole provision excluded nonviolent offenders with prior registrable sex offenders is much too slender to bear the weight of that reliance.

Section 32(a)(1), after all, concerns "any person" convicted of a nonviolent felony. It applies independent of any court order – or implementation of it by respondent – and to a much larger portion of the inmate population. Moreover, the term "nonviolent conviction," which the section sets forth as the only criterion for eligibility for early parole consideration, is a term peculiar to that section. Finally, Proposition 57 was designed to supersede rather than codify existing prison reduction orders and plans, the perceived inadequacy of which was one of the moving forces behind Proposition 57, as its proponents advised the voters:

Overcrowded and unconstitutional conditions led the U.S. Supreme Court to order the state to reduce its prison population. Now, without a common sense, longterm solution, we will continue to waste billions and risk a court-ordered release of dangerous prisoners. This is an unacceptable outcome that puts Californians in danger— and this is why we need Prop. 57.

(Voter Information Guide, *supra*, Argument in Favor of Proposition 57, p. 58.)

As will be discussed further below, an express purpose of Proposition 57 is to "prevent federal courts from indiscriminately releasing prisoners." There is nothing in the text of Proposition 57 that either obligates or authorizes respondent to bend or stretch the meaning of "nonviolent conviction" to conform to the parameters of any separate program he may have for second-

strikers. In fact, the reference to a federal court order in the Voter Information Guide that respondent relies on here directly follows the proponents' statement that "[v]iolent criminals as defined by Penal Code 667.5(c) are excluded from parole." (Voter Information Guide, *supra*, Rebuttal to Argument Against Proposition 57, p. 59.)

In short, respondent's reliance upon the proponents' oblique reference to the federal order to support his argument that the voters were "clearly advised" that the early parole provision of Proposition 57 excluded nonviolent offenders with prior registrable convictions is a red herring. The Court of Appeal properly found that reference unhelpful to determination of the voters' intent on the limited question before it.

# 2. The Provision's Stated Purposes.

Respondent invokes the "public safety" purpose of Proposition 57 as a shibboleth of the "lock 'em up and throw away the key" mentality that led to mass incarceration, an evil in the eyes of the electorate that Proposition 57 was intended to mitigate as broadly as it could for nonviolent offenders. It did so by being "smart on crime" rather than "tough on crime," advancing public safety by reducing incarceration and improving rehabilitation. As one step in that advancement, Section 32(a) (1) reforms blanket lengthy imprisonment for nonviolent offenders by providing for consideration of them for early parole.

The provision for early parole consideration sets forth several specific and equal purposes in its introductory language that illustrate its progressive approach to crime and punishment:

The following provisions are hereby enacted to enhance public safety, improve rehabilitation, and avoid release of prisoners by federal court order, notwithstanding anything in this article or any other provision of law.

(Section 32(a) (1).) These express purposes are not only fully consistent with an intention to apply the Amendment to all nonviolent offenders, but also furthered by application of its provision for early parole consideration to those who can safely be released regardless of their prior record. To be sure, simply warehousing Gadlin and those like him to mete out prison terms imposed upon them for punishment and incapacitation purposes is contrary to the proposition's reform purposes.

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